#### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-26-2018

In re CSRBA Case No. 49576 Subcase No. 91-7755 Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45382

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises from consolidated subcases that are part of the broader Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River basin general stream adjudication. The United States, as trustee for the Coeur d'Alene Tribe ("Tribe"), filed 353 claims to federal reserved water rights for the Tribe to fulfill the purposes of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation. The State of Idaho and others objected. The District Court of the Fifth Judicial District ("Water Court") consolidated the claims related to the Reservation (consolidated subcase No. 91-7755) and bifurcated the proceedings. In a May 3, 2017 decision, the district court addressed the nature of water rights held in trust for the Tribe, including priority dates. The court left the quantification of rights for a later phase of litigation.

The United States claimed water rights on behalf of the Tribe in two general categories: (1) rights to divert water for consumptive use in irrigation, domestic, commercial, and industrial applications; and (2) rights to maintain instream flows, lake levels, seeps, springs, and wetlands for the continuation of traditional tribal practices like hunting, fishing, plant gathering, recreation, and cultural activities. Both categories of water rights are essential to fulfilling the Coeur d'Alene Reservation's general purpose: to serve as a permanent homeland for members of the Coeur d'Alene Tribe.

These categories serve diverse purposes, but even the full quantity of water claimed has a limited scope. Consumptive claims are tied only to lands owned by the United States and held in trust for the Tribe or for an allottee or owned in fee by the Tribe, and such claims amount to less than one percent of the total outflow of the Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River Basin. Domestic usage claims are tied to the population of the Reservation. And agricultural claims have been tied to the well-established practicably-irrigable acreage standard.

In its May 3, 3017, decision, the Water Court held that the United States established the

Coeur d'Alene Reservation for the "primary purpose" of enabling tribal hunting, fishing, domestic, and agricultural activities. The Water Court determined that the United States did not reserve water for other traditional Tribal practices or for commercial or industrial uses—and that those uses cannot be considered in quantifying the overall reserved right—because those uses are "secondary" to the purposes of the reservation. This cramped interpretation of the federal reserved right for Coeur d'Alene Reservation is contrary to decisions of the United States Supreme Court and of various state supreme courts. Those decisions demonstrate that when the United States established reservations to serve as tribal homelands, the United States impliedly reserved water to support both traditional practices and future needs. They further demonstrate that water required for commercial and industrial uses reasonably may be considered in determining rights of use and in quantifying the water rights reserved for Indian reservations.

The Water Court also incorrectly rejected claims for off-reservation instream flows required to protect on-reservation fisheries. It cannot be seriously disputed—and the Water Court correctly found—that the United States established the Reservation in part to protect tribal fisheries and fishing rights. Off-reservation stream flows necessary to protect the fish are not different from off-reservation stream flows required to protect on-reservation water uses. Finally, the Water Court erred in holding that non-consumptive water rights appurtenant to reservation lands that were granted to private parties via allotment and homesteading (and then reacquired for the Tribe) lost their time immemorial priority. Under federal law, these reserved water rights appurtenant to lands held in trust for Indians are properly accorded a time-immemorial priority, notwithstanding interim ownership and state-law rules that might have applied during that time.

#### **B.** Course of Proceedings

On March 23, 2006, the Idaho Legislature approved initiation of the Northern Idaho Adjudication, a general stream adjudication for the determination of surface and ground water

rights in the Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River basin. Idaho Code § 42-1406B. The United States is a party to the adjudication under the McCarran Amendment, 43 U.S.C. § 666. The first basin to be adjudicated by the Water Court is the Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River drainage, which includes the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation. On November 12, 2008, the Water Court issued a *Commencement Order for the Coeur d'Alene-Spokane River Basin General Adjudication* setting forth a process for filing of claims. On January 30, 2014, the United States filed 353 claims to federal reserved water rights for the Tribe to fulfill the purpose of the Reservation. *See* R.8 (United States' Cover Letter for Tribal Claims). The Tribe entered an appearance on its own behalf and joined in the claims. *See* R.4. On February 17, 2015, the court issued an order consolidating all federal claims for water on the Reservation into one subcase and bifurcating litigation of that subcase into issues of entitlement and quantification. R.461–62. The Water Court has thus far considered—and this appeal involves—only issues of entitlement and of the priority date to be assigned to different categories of water claims.

On motions for summary judgment, the United States argued that the Coeur d'Alene Reservation was established in 1873 to create and maintain a permanent homeland for the Coeur d'Alene Tribe. It argued that accomplishing this homeland purpose requires reserved water rights that serve both traditional and modern uses, including rights for domestic, commercial, municipal, and industrial uses; irrigated agriculture; instream flows for fish habitat; maintenance of water levels in Coeur d'Alene Lake; and maintenance of wetlands, springs, and seeps. And the United States argued that the water rights serving traditional subsistence uses (fishing, hunting, gathering, and domestic) have a time-immemorial priority date, and modern uses (agriculture and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Clerk's Record on Appeal prepared jointly for this and the related appeals regarding the Tribal claims (Idaho Supreme Court Nos. 45381, 45383, and 45384) are designated as "R.#."

commercial/industrial) have a date-of-Reservation priority date. *See* R.2540–90; R.3511–3599; R.4062–101; R.4356–63; R.4405–21.

After extensive briefing and argument, the Water Court (Judge Eric J. Wildman) issued its ruling on entitlement on May 3, 2017. R.4310–33. The court rejected the United States' contention that, when establishing the Reservation, the United States impliedly reserved all water rights necessary to provide a homeland for the Tribe. Instead, the court held that United States impliedly reserved only those water rights needed for what the court deemed to be the specific "primary purposes" of the Reservation, namely, agriculture, domestic use, hunting, and fishing. R.4317–23. The court therefore denied claims for rights to use water for commercial, industrial, and plant gathering; for maintenance of Lake Coeur d'Alene levels (for purposes other than fishing and hunting); and for other uses that it decided were "secondary purposes" of the Reservation. R.4323–24. The court also rejected claims for the maintenance of instream flows outside the Reservation boundaries for the protection of on-Reservation fisheries. R.4324–26. The court recognized a time-immemorial priority date for hunting and fishing uses and held that a date-of-reservation priority (which it determined to be 1873) applied to domestic and agricultural water claims. R.4326–27. It applied a date-of-reacquisition priority for consumptive claims for reservation lands reacquired by the Tribe following a period of private ownership due to allotment and homestead grants. R.4327–28.

The United States and the Tribe jointly moved for reconsideration on two issues: first, the apparent accidental dismissal of certain *on*-reservation instream flow claims for fishing purposes; and second, rejection of plant gathering (along with fishing and hunting) as a primary purpose of the Reservation. R.4356–63. The State and other objectors likewise sought reconsideration or clarification on the priority date assigned to non-consumptive uses attached to reacquired lands. On July 26, 2017, the court granted the motion of the United States and the Tribe to the extent

that they sought to allow the fishery-supporting on-reservation instream flow claims to continue to the quantification phase. R.4481–82. But the Water Court again rejected plant gathering as one of the primary purposes of the Reservation, and it ruled that a date-of-reacquisition priority date would apply to water rights on all reacquired lands, including for non-consumptive uses on former allotments and homesteaded lands. R.4474; R.4480.

These decisions are now the subject of four appeals before this Court. *See* No. 45381 (appeal by State of Idaho); No. 45383 (appeal by Coeur d'Alene Tribe); No. 45384 (appeal by North Idaho Water Rights Alliance, et al.). These appeals have a consolidated record on appeal, *see* R.1–2, but briefing of the appeals is proceeding separately.

#### C. Statement of Facts

The U.S. Supreme Court detailed the history of the Coeur d'Alene Tribe and establishment of its Reservation in *Idaho v. United States*, 533 U.S. 262 (2001) ("*Idaho II*"), which held that the United States holds submerged lands within the Coeur d'Alene Reservation in trust for the benefit of the Tribe. The Coeur d'Alene Tribe's aboriginal territory included more than 3.5 million acres in what is now northern Idaho and northeastern Washington, including Lake Coeur d'Alene, the St. Joe River, and surrounding areas. *Id.* at 265. As the Court explained: "Tribal members traditionally used the lake and its related waterways for food, fiber, transportation, recreation, and cultural activities. The Tribe depended on submerged lands for everything from water potatoes harvested from the lake to fish weirs and traps anchored in riverbeds and banks." *Id.* (citations and footnote omitted). The United States acquired title to this area under an 1846 treaty with Great Britain. *Id.* Then, as American immigration into the Tribe's territory became an increasing issue, President Johnson in 1867 issued an Executive Order setting aside "a reservation of comparatively modest size." *Id.* The Tribe was apparently unaware of this Order, however, and in 1871 it petitioned the Government to set aside a reservation. *Id.* at

265–66. "The Tribe found the 1867 boundaries unsatisfactory, due in part to their failure to make adequate provision for fishing and other uses of important waterways." *Id.* at 266. Accordingly, when the Tribe again petitioned the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for an adequate reservation, "it insisted on a reservation that included key river valleys because 'we are not as yet quite up to living on farming' and 'for a while yet we need have some hunting and fishing.'" *Id.* After further negotiations, the Tribe agreed in 1873 to relinquish all claims to its aboriginal lands outside the bounds of a larger reservation; in exchange, the United States would "set apart and secure" "for the exclusive use of the Coeur d'Alene Indians, and to protect . . . from settlement or occupancy by other persons." *Id.* (quoting 1873 agreement). The reservation boundaries described in the agreement included part of the St. Joe River and nearly all of Lake Coeur d'Alene. *Id.*<sup>2</sup> The 1873 agreement was by its terms not binding without congressional approval, but later that year "President Grant issued an Executive Order directing that the reservation specified in the agreement be 'withdrawn from sale and set apart as a reservation for the Coeur d'Alene Indians.' "*Id.* at 266 (quoting Exec. Order of Nov. 8, 1873, reprinted in 1 C. Kapler, *Indian Affairs: Laws and Treaties* 837 (1904)); see also R.1868.

As of 1885, Congress still had neither ratified the 1873 agreement nor compensated the Tribe, so the Tribe again petitioned for "a proper treaty" and compensation. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 267; *see also* R.1869–72. After further negotiations, the Tribe agreed in 1887 to cede "all right, title, and claim" to land outside their present reservation. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 267; R.1873–77. Again, Congress did not immediately ratify this agreement. Instead, in 1889, the United States and Tribe negotiated a new agreement under which the Tribe would cede the northern portion of its reservation in exchange for \$500,000. *Idaho II*, 533 U.S. at 269–70; R.1882–84. Congress

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The full text of the 1873 agreement may be found in various places in the record, including R.1865–67 and R.4201–03.

ratified the 1887 and 1889 agreements in 1890. Idaho II, 533 U.S. at 270.

The Reservation boundaries have remained largely constant since that time, but control of Reservation lands has evolved, most substantially as a result of the 1906 Indian Appropriations Act, ch. 3504, 34 Stat. 325, 335–36 (June 21, 1906), which allowed allotment of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation. Under that law, and over vigorous and near-universal objection by the Tribe, *see* R.1750–51, each Indian on the Coeur d'Alene Reservation received an allotment of 160 acres; surplus lands—those not allotted or reserved for common Tribal purposes—were open to settlement by non-Indians. 34 Stat. at 335–37. The result of this policy was that non-Indian holdings of allotments on the Reservation soon *far* exceeded Indian holdings, due both to non-Indian homesteading and to the loss of Indian allotment ownership due to sale, forfeiture, or loss in mortgage sale. *See* R.2244–50. The federal government reversed course on the Indian allotment policy in the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934, Pub. L. No. 73-383, 48 Stat. 984. As for the Coeur d'Alene Tribe, the result was eventual transfer back to the Tribe of only minimal remaining surplus lands (i.e., lands that had not yet been homesteaded following the 1906 allotment Act). R.3101, 3105; R.799–802. Over the last few decades, the Tribe has endeavored to reacquire lands alienated from Tribal control during allotment. *See* R.3108–10.

In this water rights adjudication case, the United States and Tribe retained historians who prepared reports on the history of the Coeur d'Alene Tribe, particularly with respect to the circumstances surrounding the creation of the Reservation. *See* R.2627–28 (United States and Coeur d'Alene Tribe's Joint Statement of Facts, summarizing expert reports submitted in this case). These expert reports thoroughly document the Tribe's historical reliance on waterways for fishing, hunting, gathering, trade, culture, and general survival from time immemorial through (and beyond) Reservation creation; the Tribe's initiation of agriculture on the Reservation due to the federal government's intent to promote that activity; and the Tribe's demand for a reservation

with waterways. *See generally* R.2632–72. Similarly, experts documented Tribal resistance to federal allotment policy and the Tribe's continued commitment to fighting for its water resources. R.2671–76. And an expert explained the biological attributes of the fish species that are the focus of the claims for instream flows to protect fish habitat, and why maintenance of fish habitat that happens to be outside the Reservation boundaries is critical to effectuating the fishing purpose of the Reservation. R.2676–78.

The United States' water right claims on behalf of the Tribe fall into several categories, all of which further the Reservation's role as a permanent homeland for the Coeur d'Alene Tribe. The United States claimed non-consumptive water rights to support the Tribe's hunting, fishing, gathering, cultural practices, transportation, recreation, and related uses. These claims are for the maintenance of certain flows or levels in Lake Coeur d'Alene and its associated waterways and for seeps, springs, and wetlands on Reservation lands. These in-situ water rights allow for the Tribe's continued traditional activities on Reservation waters, which require protecting the upstream habitat upon which the Tribe's fishery depends. The claimed consumptive water rights would entitle the Tribe to divert water for domestic, agricultural, municipal, commercial, and industrial uses, which serve the Reservation's homeland purpose by supporting basic domestic needs and by aiding in the Tribe's continued economic development and self-sufficiency.

In weighing the United States' entitlement to water for the Coeur d'Alene Tribe, the Water Court rejected the argument that the Reservation's acknowledged "homeland" purpose may be the basis for a reserved water right. Instead, the Water Court sought to identify particular uses of water that it deemed so essential to the Reservation that only they supported reserved water rights for the Tribe. Those uses, the court found, were only hunting, fishing, agriculture, and domestic uses; only those uses may now be considered in the next phase of the adjudication when the court determines the quantity of water reserved for the Tribe. Accordingly, the Water

Court held that the Tribe is entitled to zero water for cultural practices, commercial or industrial activities, plant gathering, transportation, or any other use not specifically approved. And although it did not question the dependence of the Tribe's on-Reservation fisheries on upstream flows for spawning, the court denied any right to those flows if they happen to be needed outside the Reservation boundaries. Finally, while the Water Court properly recognized that water rights tied to traditional Tribal water uses hold a time-immemorial priority date, it undermined this holding by excepting any such rights to maintain water for seeps, springs, and wetlands on Reservation lands that were alienated from Tribal control through allotment or homesteading.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The issues presented in this appeal are:

- (1) whether the Water Court erred in holding that the reserved water right for the Coeur d'Alene Reservation is limited to water needed for specified purposes that the Water Court deemed "primary," as opposed to all water reasonably necessary to provide a permanent homeland for the Tribe (Section I.A);
- (2) whether the permanent homeland purpose of the Reservation encompasses the Tribe's traditional activities recognized by the Supreme Court in *Idaho II*, as well as commercial and industrial activities required to achieve self-sufficiency, enabling these other uses to be considered when defining and quantifying the Reservation's water rights (Section I.B–D);
- (3) whether claims for instream flows outside of Reservation boundaries are properly included as part of the Reservation's water rights because they are necessary for protecting the on-Reservation fishery (Section II); and
- (4) whether non-consumptive reserved water rights appurtenant to reacquired reservation lands hold a time-immemorial priority date, notwithstanding the period of interim private ownership due to allotment or homestead grants (Section III).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, this Court "employs the same standard of review as the district court." *Pocatello v. State*, 180 P.3d 1048, 1051 (Idaho 2008). Summary judgment is proper when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (quoting Idaho R. Civ. P. 56(c)). This court exercises "free review" over issues of law. *Id.* 

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. Establishment of the Coeur d'Alene Reservation included the implied reservation of water to provide a permanent homeland for the Tribe.

Over a century ago, the United States Supreme Court held that when the United States sets aside an Indian reservation, it impliedly reserves sufficient water to fulfill the purposes of the reservation, with the priority date established as of the date of the reservation. Winters v. United States, 207 U.S. 564 (1908). Indian reserved rights to water thus differ significantly from the appropriative water rights that are typical of western states: they are not based on actual diversion and beneficial use of water but instead are implied from the reservation of land, and they are measured by the amount of water needed to accomplish the purposes of the reservation. Critically, because these rights are implied, they need not be made explicit at any time during negotiations between the Tribe and the United States, nor need they be expressly indicated in any document formalizing the reservation. See United States v. Adair, 723 F.2d 1397, 1409 (9th Cir. 1983); In re Gen. Adjud. of All Rights to Use Water in Gila River Sys. & Source, 35 P.3d 68, 75 (Ariz. 2001) ("Gila V"); Mont. ex rel. Greely v. Confed. Salish & Kootenai Tribes, 712 P.2d 754, 764 (Mont. 1985). Instead, the scope of the water rights impliedly reserved to serve a federal Indian reservation is generally determined with a view to several factors, such as the history of the tribe and reservation at issue, including their traditional practices and their need to maintain themselves under changed circumstances; the language of the treaty, order, or agreement that

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