#### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-13-2018

In re CSRBA Case No. 49576 Subcase No. 91-7755 Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45382

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

#### II. ARGUMENT

### A. The Law Regarding Federal Reserved Water Rights.

The Court has ruled on several cases regarding the doctrine of federal reserved water rights. See, e.g., U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho 655, 23 P.3d 117 (2001) (regarding the Deer Flat National Wildlife Refuge claims); State v. United States, 134 Idaho 940, 12 P.3d 1284 (2000) (regarding the Sawtooth National Recreation Area claims); Potlatch Corp. v. United States, 134 Idaho 916, 12 P.3d 1260 (2000) (regarding the Wilderness Act and Hells Canyon Recreation Area claims); Potlatch Corp. v. United States, 134 Idaho 912, 12 P.3d 1256 (2000) (regarding the Wild and Scenic River Act claims); United States v. City of Challis, 133 Idaho 525, 988 P.2d 1199 (1999) (regarding the Multiple-Use Sustained-Yield Act claims); and United States v. State, 131 Idaho 468, 959 P.2d 449 (1998) (regarding the Public Water Reserve 107 executive order claims).

The Court has made clear that the existence or absence of a reserved water right is a matter of federal law, relying in its prior decisions upon United States Supreme Court cases and relevant federal executive and legislative history. Reliance by the Court upon its prior decisions has been intended simply to incorporate reasoning based upon federal law, not to imply that there is applicable state law. *U.S. v. State of Idaho*, 135 Idaho at 122. The Court is "not bound by circuit court precedent even on matters of federal law." *State v. McNeely*, 162 Idaho 413, 416, 398 P.3d 146, 149 (2017). "Such decisions are authoritative only if the reasoning is persuasive." *Id.* Of course, if the United States Supreme Court has interpreted the federal law in question, the Idaho Supreme Court will be bound by the U.S. Supreme Court's interpretation of federal law. *James v.* 

City of Boise, Idaho, 136 S.Ct. 685, 686 (2016). With regard to the federal reserved water rights doctrine, the U.S. Supreme Court has spoken definitively, as recognized by the Court.

"In deciding whether an implied reservation of water exists, the Court must determine whether it must be inferred that the executive body involved intended to reserve unappropriated waters. Cappaert v. United States, 426 U.S. 128, 139, 96 S.Ct. 2062, 48 L.Ed.2d 523 (1976)."

U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho at 123. "An intent to reserve water is inferred if water is necessary for the primary purposes of the reservation and if, without water, the purposes of the reservation will be entirely defeated." State v. United States, 134 Idaho at 943, 12 P.3d at 1287, citing United States v. New Mexico, 438 U.S. 696, 700, 98 S.Ct. 3012, 57 L.Ed.2d 1052 (1978). "The necessity of water must be so great that without the water the reservation would be 'entirely defeated.' New Mexico, 438 U.S. at 702, 98 S.Ct. 3012." U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho at 123.

"Where a reservation of public land for a particular purpose does not expressly declare that water is needed as a primary use to accomplish the purpose of the reservation, or the exact purpose of the reservation is not clearly set forth in terms readily demonstrating the necessity for the use of water, the courts must consider the relevant acts, enabling legislation and history surrounding the particular reservation under review to determine if a federal reserved water right exists." *United States v. State*, 131 Idaho at 470.

The doctrine of reserved water rights applies to Indian reservations and other lands reserved for a particular purpose, including parks, wildlife refuges and national forests. *Id*.

The claimant of a water right based on federal law has the ultimate burden of persuasion on each element of the water right. I.C. § 42-1411A(12).

# B. The Primary Purposes of the Reservation Do Not Include the Broad Set of Purposes Claimed by the United States.

The district court concluded that fishing and hunting was a primary purpose for the federal government to set aside the Coeur d'Alene Indian Reservation. This determination has been separately appealed by the State of Idaho (Docket No. 45381) and NIWRG (Docket No. 45384). The district court also recognized agricultural and domestic uses as primary purposes.

Not satisfied with this broad set of primary purposes, the United States and the Tribe argue on appeal that an even broader set of purposes, including commercial, municipal, industrial, gathering, lake level maintenance, maintenance of wetlands, springs and seeps, off-reservation fish habitat, and the all-encompassing "homeland" purpose should be recognized, as well. The agreements and Congressional acts of the time do not support this expansive inference.

A detailed review of the agreements (1873, 1887 and 1889), Executive Orders (1867 and 1873) and Congressional actions (1886–1891 and 1906) involving the Coeur d'Alene Reservation reveal a purposeful and deliberate purpose: promoting an agrarian lifestyle on a diminished reservation. This is remarkably similar to the series of events involving the Fort Belknap Reservation that was at issue in the first federal reserved water right case of *Winters v. United States*, 207 U.S. 564 (1908), in which the purpose of the diminished reservation was "to become a pastoral and civilized people," not for the "habits and wants of a nomadic and uncivilized people." *Winters*, 207 U.S. at 576.

The July 1873 agreement, which led to the enlarged Executive Order reservation that same year, sought to locate tribal members "on a reservation suitable to their wants as an agricultural

people." R. at 713 (quoting Smith to the Secretary of the Interior (Nov. 1, 1873)). The 1873 agreement was to provide the tribal members with wagons, plows, horses, a grist mill, a saw mill, school buildings, a blacksmith and sundry other <u>agricultural implements</u>. R. at 710, 1866 (emphasis added).

The need for assistance was understandable, given the statement by tribal leadership that "we are not as yet quite up to living on farming; with the word of God we took labor too; we began tilling the ground and we like it; though perhaps slowly we are continually progressing; but our unaided industry is not as yet up to the white man's. We think it hard to leave at once old habits to embrace new ones; for a while yet we need have some hunting and fishing." R. at 700. From the entirety of this statement, it seems clear that the overriding goal — the primary purpose — was agriculture.

The agricultural purpose of the reservation was certainly a promising one, given the favorable remarks on the Tribe's early agricultural practices, as provided by Governor Isaac Stevens and Captain John Mullan. R. at 646, 669, 670 and 686.

Accordingly, "the majority of Coeur d'Alene families began to relocate to the DeSmet area by the late 1870s and early 1880s." R. at 716. "A final factor in the removal of Coeur d'Alene families from their traditional villages to Hangman Creek Valley was the relocation of the Sacred Heart Mission from Cataldo to DeSmet. The Jesuits' move occurred in 1877. *Id.* There were many "well-improved farms[,]" and tribal members had a total of "160 farms" from which they found "a ready sale for their surplus produce at good prices." *Id.* (quoting John A. Simms, Indian Agent, to Commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1879 and 1880 reports).

By "1877 or 1878," the Coeur d'Alenes had reportedly "all commenced making small farms" in the DeSmet area and other lands within the reserve. R. at 725 (quoting James O'Neil, Resident Farmer, Coeur d'Alene, to Sidney D. Waters, Indian Agent (Mar. 26, 1885)).

At the time of the 1883 survey, tribal members were "far advanced over their white neighbors" in their agricultural endeavors. R. at 721 (quoting Waters to Price (Nov. 10, 1883)). In an 1884 letter, Indian Agent Waters called the Coeur d'Alenes "the peers of any farmers on the Pacific slope." R. at 723.

In its 1885 petition, the Tribe stressed the need for proper farming implements. R. at 1871. Congress appropriated funds to negotiate further with the Tribe in 1886. R. at 725. During the meetings in March 1887, the federal commission met with tribal leaders at the DeSmet mission, telling them that their farms were far "ahead of the whites." R. at 726.

In authorizing additional negotiations in 1889, Congress directed the new commission to seek the purchase of portions of the reservation "not agricultural." R. at 733 (quoting Act of March 2, 1889).

Comments made by tribal members during the 1889 Council meetings focused primarily on agricultural uses and "improvements." R. at 740 (Third Council, Aug. 31, 1889; Fourth Council, Sep. 8, 1889).

In 1891, the year Congress ratified the 1887 and 1889 agreements, the local Indian Agent commended the tribal members' agricultural efforts, stating that nearly all of them were farmers. By the mid-1890s, they continued to hold "the finest farms" among all area tribes that boasted "clean fields, well supplied with stock, modern machinery, good houses and barns." At the

decade's end, tribal members reportedly had "a greater acreage in cultivation than ever before" and were "better farmers than any other tribe connected with this agency." R. at 741–42 (quoting Indian Agency reports from Cole (1891), Bubb (1894) and Anderson (1899)).

Agriculture was clearly the primary purpose of the reservation, just as in *Winters*. The additional uses of the reservation advocated by the United States and the Tribe on appeal were therefore properly regarded as secondary purposes by the district court.

# C. The Test of Necessity Further Defeats the Federal Government's Broad Set of Reserved Right Claims.

The inquiry regarding entitlement to a federal reserved water right does not end with a determination of the primary purposes of the reservation. The *New Mexico* "test of necessity" must be applied. This is critically important because the federal reserved water rights doctrine is a narrowly tailored exception to the "purposeful and continued deference to state water law by Congress." *California v. United States*, 438 U.S. 645, 653 (1978).

If allowed, the federal claims threaten future curtailment of vested, state law water rights. As admitted by the United States: "The water rights claimed for various consumptive and non-consumptive uses may exceed the natural flow in a given stream in a particular year. The United States and Coeur d'Alene Tribe reserve the right to determine in any particular year which use(s), if any, to limit." R. at 13. Given Idaho's system of priority administration, and the senior priorities claimed by the United States, it is safe to assume that the uses to be limited during times of shortage will not just be those of the Tribe. The more junior state law water right holders on the system will be adversely impacted. That is why the stringency of the necessity test is so important. See,

New Mexico, 438 U.S. at 699, 705 (concluding that "federal reservations inescapably vie with other public and private claims for the limited quantities of water to be found in the rivers and streams" and that "federal reserved water rights will frequently require a gallon-for-gallon reduction in the amount of water available for water-needy state and private appropriators"); see also, U.S. v. State of Idaho, 135 Idaho at 666 (observing that federal reserved water right for Wildlife Refuge would make state law irrigation water rights inferior and subject to interruption) and City of Challis, 133 Idaho at 527 (recognizing that "water rights could potentially be curtailed if the claims were granted").

Applying the test below, it is clear that certain of the additional federal reserved water right claims asserted by the United States and the Tribe on appeal are not necessary to fulfill the primary purposes of the reservation and should be disallowed.

In conducting this analysis, it is helpful to first review some of the Court's previous decisions applying the test.

For example, the Court previously found no basis for a federal reserved water right in the Sawtooth National Recreation Area ("SNRA"), despite the existence of a broad set of purposes of use. *State v. United States*, 134 Idaho 940, 945–47, 12 P.3d 1284, 1289–91 (2000). The primary purpose of the reservation was to regulate development and mining in the SNRA "in order to preserve and protect the natural, scenic, historic, pastoral, and fish and wildlife values of the area, as well as to enhance the recreational values associated with the area." *Id.* at 944. The district court took judicial notice of the fact that fish require water to live, and because the primary purpose

of the reservation included the protection of fish and wildlife values, ruled that water was necessary to fulfill the primary purpose. The Court disagreed. *Id.* at 944–45.

"In order to meet the test of necessity required for a federal reserved water right, the need for water must be so great that, without water, the primary purpose of the reservation will be entirely defeated. *New Mexico*, 438 U.S. at 700, 98 S.Ct. at 3014, 57 L.Ed.2d at 1057." *Id.* at 945. While agreeing that "fish require water," the Court found that the test of necessity was not met because the primary purpose of the reservation, including protection of fish and wildlife values, was being accomplished through the promulgation of land use regulations for the recreation area. *Id.* (*citing, e.g.,* 36 C.F.R. Secs. 292.14–292.18 (1999)). Because the purpose of the SNRA was now being addressed by government regulations, the Court found that the fish and wildlife purpose would not be entirely defeated without water and held that there was no federal reserved water right. *Id.* This was true, even though the government regulations were adopted well after the SNRA was established.

The *New Mexico* "test of necessity" was also applied by the Court in the context of a federal reserved water right claim for the Deer Flat National Wildlife Refuge. *U.S. v. State of Idaho*, 135 Idaho 655, 23 P.3d 117 (2001). The federal government claimed that the reservation of islands in the Snake River, for the purpose of providing a refuge and breeding ground for migratory birds and other wildlife, created a federal reserved water right. However, the Court found: "The United States has not shown that the principal objects of the reservations will be defeated without a reserved water right." *Id.* at 664. "One can assume that there was an expectation that the 'islands' would remain surrounded by water, but that does not equate to an intent to reserve a federal water

right to accomplish that purpose." *Id.* The Court observed that the reclamation projects assured that there would be sufficient water to maintain the islands without a federal reserved water right. *Id.* at 666. "Local residents say that the principal factor in preventing water level fluctuations are the numerous dams and reservoirs upstream." *Id.* 

Despite the fact that fish and islands both need water, it turns out that neither required a federal reserved water right under the Court's previous opinions, applying "the test of necessity" from *New Mexico*. The same is true for the additional, myriad purposes claimed for the Coeur d'Alene Reservation. These purposes would not be "entirely defeated" without a federal reserved water right.

The State of Idaho has provided vested water right protections for important waterways within the Reservation boundaries, making a federal water right unnecessary.

In 1927, the Idaho State Legislature authorized and directed the Governor of the State of Idaho to appropriate in trust for the people of the State of Idaho all of the unappropriated water of Lake Coeur d'Alene, to preserve the lake for scenic beauty, health, recreation, transportation and commercial purposes necessary and desirable for all the residents of Idaho. I.C. § 67-4304. The Governor applied for and was granted water right no. 95-2067 for the preservation of Lake Coeur d'Alene, which right was licensed and became vested pursuant to the laws of the State of Idaho. I.C. § 42-220. By its terms, this water right protects the entire lake, including the portion that lies within the Coeur d'Alene Reservation. The purpose of the United States' claim for the lake, including inflow, and associated claims for maintenance of wetlands, springs and seeps, gathering and other traditional uses of waterways, is met by the State. Where the power of the State is

adequate to fulfill the purpose of the reservation, a federal reserved water right is not necessary. See, e.g., Puyallup Tribe v. Dept. of Game of Washington, 433 U.S. 173 (1977) (concluding that the power of the state was adequate for protection of fish and a federal reserved water right was not necessary to fulfill that purpose); see also, State v. United States, 134 Idaho 940, 12 P.3d 1284 (federal regulation negated need for federal water right).

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